SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC04-1737 Lower Tribunal 2D03-5145

VICTOR BORDEN, ET. AL., Petitioner

V.

EAST-EUROPEAN INSURANCE COMPANY, OCEAN INSURANCE MANAGEMENT INC., BARNHARDT MARINE INSURANCE, INC. Respondents

ON REVIEW OF CONFLICT BETWEEN DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BARNHARDT MARINE INSURANCE

David W. Henry 0765082 Barbara R. Smith Allen Dyer Doppelt Milbrath & Gilchrist 255 S. Orange Ave. Suite 1401

Orlando FL 407-841-2330 Attorney for Barnhardt Marine

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Barnhardt Marine Insurance (Barnhardt) adopts the Statement of Facts offered by Petitioner Victor Borden. To avoid duplicative appendices, Barnhardt relies in part on the Appendix of Petitioner Borden and Ocean Insurance Management cited (Borden App. at _____ or Ocean App. at _____). Barnhardt filed its own appendix ('hereinafter Barnhardt App. ____'). East-European and Alfa Insurance are referred to as East-European or the "carrier defendants" for simplicity.

Barnhardt supplements the factual statement of Petitioner with the following information. In the trial court Victor Borden initially sued the Respondents in the state court. Barnhardt, the wholesale broker located in Jacksonville, served a notice of removal to federal court. (Barnhardt App. 1). Counsel for East-European and Alfa Insurance filed a notice of appearance and written consent to removal. (Barnhardt App. 2, 3). East-European and Alfa thereafter filed a motion for extension of time in federal court to respond to Borden's motion to remand. (Barnhardt App. 4). In the first three papers filed East-European and Alfa Insurance did not raise improper service or in personam jurisdiction. (Barnhardt App. 2, 3, 4). Ten days after the order remanding the case to Hillsborough County, East-European and Alfa Insurance PLC filed a motion to quash service challenging the constitutionality of in personam jurisdiction. Upon returning to state court, the agency defendants sought abatement of the claims against them pursuant to the holding in *Blumberg v. USAA Casualty Insurance Co.*, 790 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 2001). The trial court reserved ruling on the motion to abate the claims against the agency defendants - holding that the court would rule on the abatement issue in the future after discovery. (Barnhardt App. 7). The court initially limited discovery from the agent defendants to matters relating to jurisdiction over the insurers. *Id.*

After service of the amended complaint by Borden, defendant Barnhardt answered and asserted a crossclaim against the insurer defendants East-European and Alfa Insurance. (Borden App. 5). Barnhardt alleged that the insurer defendants wrongfully inserted a foreign arbitration clause into the policy after the binder or cover note was agreed upon. (Borden App. 5 at pp. 8-11). Barnhardt alleged that East European and Alfa Insurance obtained premium, engaged in business or directly or indirectly sold policies through agents or subagents located in the State of Florida. (Borden App. 5 at pg. 7). Barnhardt sued the insurers for equitable subrogation, indemnity and reformation. (Borden App. 5 at pp. 8-11). Barnhardt alleged that through various brokers including South Sea, 2K Shipping, and Ocean Insurance Management, that a cover note was issued for Borden's vessel (Borden App. 7 and 9). The cover note between MICI and Barnhardt (Borden App. 9) and the cover note purportedly signed in Jacksonville and intended for the insured (Borden App. 7) do not include any choice of law or arbitration provision. The arbitration clause in the policy was purportedly issued August 1, 2001, the day after the cover note. The earlier insurance quotations (offers) between the agents in July, 2001, (Borden App. 10 and 11) made no mention of foreign arbitration clauses. The cover note of July 31, 2001 does not include a foreign arbitration clause. (Borden App. 7). The arbitration provision ultimately inserted in the policy provided that "all disputes hereunder shall be subject to " the Russian legislation or English legislation and to be settled in the Maritime Arbitration Commission of Russian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Moscow." (Borden App. 21).

Barnhardt sued the insurers claiming this incongruous choice of law and arbitration clause was not expressly or impliedly agreed upon, was in violation of industry custom and practice and that the agent Barnhardt was now being sued as a result of the carrier's wrongful denial of the claim and reliance upon the arbitration provision. (Borden App. 5 at pg. 8-9). Barnhardt alleged it was being sued and was incurring legal expense and attorney's fees in the defense of allegations brought made by Borden against Barnhardt for failing to provide proper coverage. *Id.* Barnhardt alleged East-European was the actual wrongdoer, not Barnhardt. *Id.* East-

European is alleged to have unilaterally inserted a foreign arbitration clause that neither the insured nor Barnhardt had agreed upon. *Id*.

In addition to seeking money damages under theories of indemnity and equitable subrogation against the insurers, Barnhardt sued for reformation of the policy. Barnhardt alleged the policy as issued did not conform to the original intent of the parties as reflected in the cover note, that the arbitration clause was the product of fraud or inequitable conduct by the insurers, and that the insurers were indispensable parties to the claim for reformation. (Borden App. 5 at pp. 11).

After removal and then remand to state court, the insurers filed a motion to quash the crossclaim asserting that they were organized and existing under the laws of Russia, not subject to service of process and re-asserted their jurisdictional challenge. (Barnhardt App. 6).

In its detailed order of October 17, 2003, the trial court conducted an exhaustive review of the depositions, discovery materials, affidavits and authorities. (Borden App. 3). The trial court specifically found the cover note was received through a series of agents by Silvia Borden in Florida prior to the loss. (Borden App. 3, pg. 14, footnote 47). The trial court did not discuss the separate crossclaim filed by Barnhardt. The trial court denied the "Motion to Quash" referring to that motion in the singular not plural. See Borden App. 3 at page 24. Presumably the trial court

was referring to both the Motion to Quash directed to Borden and the second motion directed to the crossclaim, but the trial court's order is vague. *Id.* The trial court did not discuss the allegations in the crossclaim. The trial court reaffirmed its early order reserving ruling on the motions to abate or stay filed by the agency defendants. See Borden App. 3, at pg. 24, footnote 80.

The Second District noted only that Barnhardt had supported Borden and Ocean's argument that service of process was appropriate under the Unauthorized Insurer's Process Law (UIPL)(Borden App. 1 at pg. 2). In its opinion the Second District stated that Barnhardt had argued jurisdiction was available under §48.193 and ruled without explanation that this argument had no merit and was waived below. Contrary to the statement of the Second District the record clearly establishes that in its effort to seek indemnity and equitable subrogation from the carrier defendants, Barnhardt alleged in the lower court that jurisdiction was proper under §48.193. See ¶4 of Crossclaim, Borden App. 5.

The residency of Victor Borden's agent, Silvia Borden, and the residency of the Barnhardt Insurance was not considered by the Second District in its decision. Respondent Barnhardt files this initial brief in support of the Petitioner Borden's argument and in support of the exercise of jurisdiction over East-European and Alfa Insurance, PLC.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent East-European filed a notice of appearance, consent to removal and motion for extension of time to respond to the motion for remand without asserting a jurisdictional argument. This is a waiver of the jurisdictional defense as the insurers were duty bound to assert their objection to jurisdiction in the first paper filed. Rule 1.140(h). *Fla. Dept. of Children and Families v. Sun-Sentinel, Inc.*, 865 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 2004); *Romellotti v. Hanover AMGRO Insurance Co.*, 652 So.2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

The solicitation and application process leading to the delivery of the cover note and payment of premium through Florida agents, as well as cancellation and notice of reinstatement constitutes the transaction of insurance business in Florida satisfying the UIPL and due process. A cover note is a contract of insurance within the meaning of the UIPL and delivery of the cover note occurred in Florida. The presence of a questionable foreign arbitration clause does not defeat the propriety of jurisdiction under the UIPL. *Aero Associates, Inc. v. La Metropolitana,* 183 F. Supp. 357 (S. D. N.Y. 1951). Silvia Borden and the Barnhardt Insurance agency are Florida residents within the meaning of the UIPL.

The Second District misconstrued the residency and delivery language in the UIPL. The appellate court failed to consider the crossclaim filed by Barnhardt against

the insurers, East-European and Alfa Insurance. Barnhardt stated a valid cause of action in tort or contract against the insurer defendants for equitable subrogation, indemnity and reformation. Jurisdiction is assertable under §48.193(1)(b) or (1)(g). The insurers are alleged to have wrongfully inserted a foreign arbitration clause into the policy contrary to and after delivery of the cover note. The agent is entitled to indemnity where it suffers money damages as a result of a claim denial by the carrier. *Occidental Fire & Casualty Co. v. Stevenson*, 370 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979).

The carrier defendants are properly joined and indispensable parties to both Borden's claim and the crossclaim for indemnity, equitable subrogation, and reformation.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO FIND THE RESPONDENTS EAST-EUROPEAN AND ALFA INSURANCE WAIVED THEIR DEFENSES TO SERVICE AND JURISDICTION BY FAILING TO ASSERT THEM IN THE FIRST PAPER FILED

In the state court, counsel for the insurer defendants filed a notice of appearance in the state court, and in the federal court, a written consent to removal in the federal court and a motion for extension of time to respond to Borden's motion to remand. (Barnhardt App. 2, 3, 4). The insurer defendants did not assert an objection to service of process or a jurisdictional defense prior to serving the notice of appearance, joining in removal or in the motion for extension of time to respond to the motion for remand filed in federal court. This court recently held a party does not waive a jurisdictional defense by objecting to jurisdiction and simultaneously seeking a change of venue. Fla. Dept of Children and Families v. Sun-Sentinel, Inc., 865 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 2004)(no waiver where defendant contests jurisdiction and simultaneously moved for venue transfer disapproving Hubbard v. Cazares, 413 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). However, here the service of process and jurisdictional defense was not raised in the notice of appearance, or simultaneously with the joinder in removal, or in the motion for extension of time but only after the remand to state court. Under extant case law there appears to have been an implied

consent to the exercise of jurisdiction by the state court and waiver of the jurisdictional defense because it was not included in the first paper filed in state or federal court. Fla. Dept of Children and Families, supra; Golden State Industries, Inc. v. Cueto, 883 So.2d 817, 2004 Fla. App. LEXIS 5221, at *7 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2004)(a defendant may manifest consent to the court's in personam jurisdiction in any number of way, from failure seasonably to interpose a jurisdictional defense to express acquiescence); Romellotti v. Hanover Amgro Ins. Co., 652 So.2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995)(the defense must be raised at the "first opportunity") and cases cited therein. Compare, Palmer v. Eldon Braun, 376 F.3d 1254 (11th Cir. 2004)(venue challenge in first Rule 12 motion does not preserve jurisdictional challenge and court found waiver); In re Worldwide Web Systems, Inc. 328 F.3d 1291, 1299 (11th Cir. 2003)(court noted that "we have found that a party's right to dispute personal jurisdiction on insufficient service of process grounds is waived if the party fails to assert the objection in his first Rule 12 motion, other initial pleading or general appearance" and held waiver of jurisdictional defense by failing to include ground in Rule 60(b) motion to set aside default).

In *Hollis v. Florida State University*, 259 F. 3d 1295 (11th Cir. 2001) the court held the defendants could not challenge improper venue on state law grounds in a subsequently filed motion to dismiss *after removal* where the defendant asserted that when originally filed in state court, venue was improper under state law. Other courts have found implied waivers in a variety of cases. *Pardazi v. Cullman Medical Center*, 896 F.2d 1313, 1317 (11th Cir. 1990)(recognizing waiver for failing to timely assert jurisdictional defense); *Harris Corp v. Nat'l Iranian Radio & Television*, 691 F.2d 1344, 1353 n. 18 (11th Cir. 1982)(an objection to service of process dos not preserve the issue of personal jurisdiction). East European and Alfa Insurance did not include an objection to improper service or in personam jurisdiction in the first three papers filed. Under *Fla Dept. of Families and Children, Hollis,* and *Romellotti* there appears to be a waiver of the service and jurisdictional defenses.

II. THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WERE NO INSURANCE TRANSACTIONS WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTIONS 626.906 (1) - (4), FLA. STAT., (2001).

This is a case where the UIPL has been given words it does not have in connection with the requirements of residency and delivery of contracts. Moreover, the legal significance of the crossclaim asserted by Barnhardt against the insurers has been ignored. The Second District opinion is in error because it fails to appreciate the factual record below which demonstrates multiple grounds for application of the UIPL and more than one "insurance transaction" within §626.906 (1)- (4). It is undisputed that the binder or cover note was procured by Florida agents and created in Jacksonville and delivered to Ms. Silvia Borden's mailing address in Tampa. See

Order of October 17, 2003. (Borden App. 3 at pg. 3, footnotes 7-8; pg. 5, footnote 17). A cover note is the phrase Europeans, particularly those in the London market, use to refer to what we in the U.S. call a "binder." An oral or written binder is a temporary insurance contract that normally contains a description of the risk, the name of the insured, limits, premium to be charged, the type of coverage, and other material South Carolina Ins. Co. v. Wolf, 331 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); terms. Rowland v. National States Ins. Co., 295 so.2d 335 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). Binders are recognized as temporary insurance contracts and the Florida legislature has expressly recognized that binders for marine insurance are valid and enforceable. §627.420, Fla. Stat. (2001) The notice of cancellation sent after the cover note was delivered lists Barnhardt as East European's representative and the notice was delivered in Florida to the home owned by Victor and Silvia Borden. The reinstatement letter from Barnhardt was created and mailed to the insured in Florida. (Borden App. 3 at pg. 7). The collection of premium occurred in Florida, was given to Florida agents, and the issuance of notices of cancellation and the subsequent reinstatements are all "transactions" occurring within the State of Florida. The cover note, i.e., contract arose under Florida law. These transactions in the state were conducted by agents of East-European acting with the actual, implied or apparent authority of East-European.

The Second District erred by focusing on the residency of Victor Borden and impliedly interpreted the UIPL to require that the named insured be a Florida resident. The residency of the named insured's business agent was not appreciated. The UIPL does not state the "named insured" must be a resident, only that there be delivery of a contract of insurance to a resident. §626.906(1). While in most every case the recipient of the contract is the named insured and the named insured will usually be a Florida resident, the UIPL, as tool for effectuating joinder should not be limited by judicial gloss. There is no evidence of legislative intent evincing a desire to limit jurisdiction over alien insurers and the scope is not limit to "named insureds" residing in Florida. The residency of the named insured is not controlling under the literal language of the statute.

The policy was negotiated and brokered through two agents in Florida (Ocean Insurance Management and Barnhardt). The premium was collected in Florida. The cover note was delivered in Florida to a Florida resident, Silvia Borden. Silvia Borden stated by affidavit she was her father's business manager and acted as his agent for purposes of procuring coverage. These facts are not contradicted. Affidavit of Silvia Borden, Borden App. 6.

The binder or cover note when sent to Ms. Borden in Tampa serves as delivery of a "contract of insurance" to a Florida resident (Silvia Borden) in Florida within

the meaning of §626.906(1). The carriers and the Second District wrongfully conclude, we infer, that delivery must be had to "a or the named insured" who must be a Florida resident. The statute does not so state. The statute does not require that the *policy* must be delivered, only an insurance contract. A binder is a contract. The statute does not state the delivery must to the named insured, only that there be delivery of a contract of insurance to a Florida resident. §626.906(1). Delivery to the named insured's business agent in Florida does not take the matter outside the UIPL. All that must occur to satisfy the subsection (1) of the UIPL is the delivery of a contract of insurance to a resident of this state. It does not say that the party to whom the policy is delivered must be a resident or that the named insured must be a Florida resident. The resident must be one who accepts delivery of an insurance contract. Victor Borden's agent Silvia Borden accepted delivery in Florida. Once the legal significance of the cover note is understood, the carriers argument collapses and the error of the Second District's reasoning become manifest.

A cover note or binder is contractual and carries legal import that a certificate does not. The mere furnishing of an insurance certificate to the insured in Florida has been held to constitute "delivery" within the meaning of §627.428, Fla. Stat. *East Coast Ins. Co. v. Cooper*, 415 So.2d 1323, 1325 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). *Accord. Security Nat. Life Ins. Co. v. Washington*, 113 A.2d 749 (Mun. Ct. App. D.C. 1955)

app. den. 226 F.2d 251 (D.C. App. 1955). A certificate is merely indicia of coverage. There was delivery of a contract in the form of the cover note to Silvia Borden in Florida. This is undisputed.

Nothing in the plain language of the UIPL would suggest jurisdiction cannot be obtained by conduct involving delivery to a business agent of a "contract of insurance" in Florida. Facts supporting service under subsections (1), (2) and (3) are clearly present when the statute is not read with additional terms that do not exist. Here Victor Borden's residency is dispositive of nothing. The dispositive fact is that Silvia Borden was a resident and "a" or "the" contract in form of a cover note or binder was delivered to her.

Under subsection (2) of the UIPL, the record reveals that the solicitation of the application for the contract that was delivered took place in Florida. Borden affidavit, Borden App. 6, ¶ 4. Nothing in 626.906(2) requires, as the Second District opinion implies, that the solicitation be undertaken directly with the *named insured* living as Florida resident. The solicitation must be related to the contract delivered to a Florida resident. The UIPL does not require that the party *on whose behalf the policy is issued* be a Florida resident during the solicitation process. Again all that is required is the solicitation of an application for "such contracts" meaning a contract delivered to a Florida resident within the meaning of subsection (1). The delivery of the cover note

was delivery of such a contract to a Florida resident. The solicitation with Silvia Borden was with a Florida resident.

There was also a collection of premium for the cover note, that is, "such contracts" within the meaning of subsection (3). All three section are satisfied when the statute is not infused with the requirements that unnaturally and improperly demand residency of the named insured at the time of solicitation, payment or delivery. This is just a misreading of the statute.

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