IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1737

VICTOR K. BORDEN, et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

EAST-EUROPEAN INSURANCE COMPANY, ALFA INSURANCE PLC,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 2D03-5145

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP Steven L. Brannock Paul Parrish Maegen E. Peek 100 North Tampa Street Tampa, FL 33602-3644 (813) 227-6611

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

To establish personal jurisdiction, Borden carries the burden of satisfying both the statutory requirements for long-arm jurisdiction and constitutional due process requirements. Borden has alleged that long-arm jurisdiction is proper under Florida Statute § 626.906 and that due process is satisfied because Barnhardt acted in Florida with apparent authority from Alfa. As the discussion below will demonstrate, both of these claims fail as a matter of law.

First, Section 626.906 cannot create jurisdiction over Alfa. Section 626.906 is also available only to Florida residents. Borden is a resident of Honduras, therefore he cannot establish long-arm jurisdiction under this statute.

Second, Borden cannot satisfy constitutional due process requirements. Under the Due Process Clause, before jurisdiction may be asserted over a foreign defendant, the defendant must have purposely availed himself of a business opportunity in the state such that the defendant's minimum contacts with the state put him on notice that he could be haled into court there. See e.g., World Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 297 (1980). Alfa, a Russian insurance company, issued an insurance policy in the name of a Honduran resident covering three Honduran vessels to be kept in Honduran and Caribbean waters. All transactions regarding the insurance took place up and down a chain of insurance brokers with Alfa only having contact with 2K in Turkey. At no point in time did Alfa have contact with any person or company in Florida, nor did Alfa know that its business was traveling through Florida. As such, Alfa did not purposely avail itself of a business opportunity in Florida nor make any contact with Florida that could establish jurisdiction. To permit jurisdiction in this case would offend traditional notions of "fair play and substantial justice." See e.g., Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 477-78 (1985), citing World-Wide, 444 U.S. at 292.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This Court reviews issues of statutory construction de novo. *State v. Burris*, 875 So. 2d 408 (Fla. 2004). Likewise, this Court reviews issues of personal jurisdiction over foreign corporations *de novo*. *Exec-Tech Bus. Sys., Inc. v. New Oji Paper Co.*, 752 So.2d 582, 584 (Fla. 2000).

I. THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION.

This Court lacks jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution because there is no actual conflict between the Second DCA and Third DCA opinions. *See Sun State Ford, Inc. v. Burch*, 2004 WL 2755868 (Fla. December 2, 2004).⁷ In *East-European Insurance Company v. Borden*, 884 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), the Second DCA held that Fla. Stat. § 626.906 only applies to Florida residents seeking to sue a foreign insurer. In *Winterthur International Ltd. v. Palacios*, 559 So. 2d 1214 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), the Third DCA held that Fla. Stat. § 626.906(4) does apply to non-residents seeking to sue a foreign insurer. However, subsequent to *Winterthur*, in *Hassneh*

In that case, this Court said, "We initially accepted jurisdiction to review [this case], a decision which the district court of appeal certified to be in direct conflict with the decision of another district court pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution. Upon further consideration, we have determined that there is no actual conflict and that we should exercise our discretion and discharge jurisdiction in this cause. Accordingly, this review proceeding is hereby dismissed."

Insurance Co. of Israel, Ltd. v. Plastigone Technologies, Inc., 623 So. 2d 1223 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), the Third DCA stated that Section 626.906 applies only to insurers that issue policies "held by Florida residents which are issued and delivered to them in Florida." 623 So. 2d at 1225. The Hassneh court did not limit its holding to any specific part of Section 626.906. The Hassneh court's statement harmonizes with the Second DCA's holding in East-European, thus there is no need to address a conflict.⁸

II. FRAMEWORK OF ANALYSIS

To establish *in personam* jurisdiction over a defendant, the plaintiff must show (1) the applicability of a Florida long-arm statute; (2) that the defendant has the constitutionally required "minimum contacts" with this state such that it should reasonably anticipate being haled into court in that state; and (3) that the suit does not offend traditional notices of fair play and substantial justice. *Venetian Salami*

Even if this court were to find a conflict, this case is a poor vehicle for analysis of Section 626.906. As the *East-European* court notes, the facts in *Winterthur* demonstrate that jurisdiction was clearly present under Florida's general long-arm provision, Fla. Stat. § 48.193. 884 So. 2d at 236. Thus, the *Winterthur* court's holding as to Section 626.906 was unnecessary. Furthermore, the facts of the case at hand demonstrate that it would clearly be an unconstitutional violation of Due Process to allow jurisdiction over Alfa. Simply put, the unusual facts of this case and the facts of *Winterthur* will likely create confusion and unclear guidance for the lower courts. Under circumstances such as these, this Court should exercise its discretion to decline review of the case. *See Bay Anesthesia, Inc. v. Aldrich*, 863 So. 2d 310 (Fla. 2003) ("We originally accepted jurisdiction to review [this case] pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4), of the Florida Constitution. However, after further consideration, we decline to exercise our discretion to review this matter.").

Co. v. Parthenais, 554 So. 2d 499, 500 (Fla. 1989), citing International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310 (1945); World-Wide, 444 U.S. at 286.

The first issue before this Court is whether Florida's Unauthorized Insurer's Process Law, Florida Statute § 626.906 ("UIPL") applies to non-Florida residents. Borden, Ocean, and Barnhardt⁹ (collectively referred to as "Petitioners") argue that service of process was appropriate under the UIPL. ¹⁰ Alfa App. 10 & 11; Borden Br. at 8 - 20; Ocean Br. at 12 - 22. However, Alfa demonstrates below that Borden has failed to establish jurisdiction under the UIPL.

Although this failure alone is a sufficient basis by itself for quashing service of process, Alfa also shows that Borden failed to establish that service of process would comport with the requirements of the Due Process Clause. *See e.g.*, *Springer v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Fla.*, 695 So. 2d 944, 946 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (holding that the UIPL does not afford an independent basis for *in personam* jurisdiction independent of the due process requirement of minimum contacts with

⁹ Prior to filing this brief, Alfa moved to strike Barnhart's brief. At the date of the filing of this brief, this Court has not yet ruled on Alfa's motion. For that reason, Alfa will address the issues raised in Barnhardt's brief so as not to waive the opportunity to illustrate the fallacy of Barnhardt's arguments. By addressing issues raised in Barnhardt's brief, Alfa in no way intends to abandon its motion to strike.

Properly, neither Borden nor Ocean makes any argument regarding Florida Statute § 48.193, the general long-arm statute. (*See* Alfa App.53, Ocean's post hearing memorandum of law opposing Alfa's motion to quash; Alfa App.10, Borden's response to Alfa's motion to quash).

the forum state); *see also, Walter v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Wisconsin*, 181 F.3d 1198, 1205 (11th Cir. 1999) ("Because we conclude that the district court did not have jurisdiction over Blue Cross of Wisconsin under § 626.906, we need not determine whether it had sufficient minimum contacts with Florida to satisfy the Due Process Clause.").

Because Petitioners cannot satisfy any prong of the jurisdictional test, the Second DCA's opinion should be affirmed.

III. FLORIDA STATUTE § 626.906 APPLIES ONLY TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS.

Florida Statute § 626.906, Florida's Unauthorized Insurer's Process Law, allows for service of process on an unauthorized foreign insurance company if the insurer engages in any of the following acts enumerated in the statute:

- (1) The issuance or delivery of contracts of insurance *to residents of this state* or to corporations authorized to do business therein;
- (2) The solicitation of applications for *such contracts*;
- (3) The collection of premiums, membership fees, assessments, or other considerations for *such contracts*; or
- (4) Any other transaction of insurance.

Fla. Stat. § 626.906 (2000) (emphasis added).

Subsections (1) - (3)

Borden cannot establish long-arm jurisdiction under \S 626.906(1), (2), or (3) since, on their face, subsections (1) – (3) are available only to Florida residents.

Florida court's are uniform in their requirement that these sections are available only to Florida residents. *See e.g., Parliament Life Ins. Co. v. Eglin Nat'l Bank*, 333 So. 2d 517, 518 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) (stating that § 626.906 requires "issuance or delivery of contracts of insurance *to residents of this State*). Even the case with which the Second DCA certified conflict, *Winterthur*, recognized that subsections (1) – (3) are only available to Florida residents. *Winterthur v. Palacios*, 559 So. 2d 1214, 1215 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) ("subsections 626.906 (1) – (3) apply only to residents of Florida"). ¹¹

Thus, Borden, who is undisputedly a resident of Honduras, cannot avail himself of subsections (1) – (3). *See* Alfa App.1 & 7 (naming only Victor Borden as plaintiff); Alfa App.10, Ex.5 (Cover Note listing Borden's address as Honduras); Alfa App.3 at 51 (certificate of registry listing Borden's address as Guanaja, Honduras); Alfa App.3 at 56 (letter from insurance investigator to Borden and copied to Alfa showing Borden's address as Honduras); Alfa App.3 at 144

Barnhardt contends that as long as the insurance policy is delivered to a Florida resident, it does not matter that the insured named on the policy is not a Florida resident. *See* Barnhardt Br. at 20 ("Here Victor Borden's residency is dispositive of nothing. The dispositive fact is that Sylvia [sic] Borden was a resident and 'a' or 'the' contract in form of a cover note or binder was delivered to her."). First, this argument is not properly before this Court because Barnhardt is raising the argument for the first time. *See McGurn v. Scott*, 596 So. 2d 1042, 1043 (Fla. 1992); *Mendelson v. Great Western Bank, F.S.B.*, 712 So. 2d 1194, 1197 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). Second, Barnhardt's reasoning eviscerates the entire purpose of the residency requirement by making the residency requirement a mere technicality easily evaded by foreign citizens wishing to invoke the power of United States courts. See Alfa Br. (below) at pp. 16 - 19.

(Insurance Policy listing Borden's address as Honduras); Alfa App.9 at Ex.2 & Ex.B (listing Borden's address as Honduras). While Borden's brief attempts to sidetrack this Court with references to the fact that Borden is part owner of his daughter's home in Florida or that Borden is an authorized user on a Florida bank account, those facts do not make him a Florida resident. Notably, while persistently mentioning these irrelevant facts, Petitioners never goes so far as to assert that Borden is a Florida resident.

Subsection (4)

Petitioners asserts that subsection (4) is not limited by a residency requirement and therefore is available as a basis for long-arm jurisdiction. To begin with, Borden failed to plead facts sufficient to create jurisdiction under subsection (4). Alfa App.7 at ¶7. However, even if Borden were to allege facts sufficient to create possible jurisdiction under subsection (4), as the discussion below demonstrates, that section is not available to Borden. The Legislature has stated and all courts to address the issue (save *Winterthur*) have uniformly held that

The amended complaint alleges that "the following actions subject [Alfa] to personal jurisdiction of the Court:"

⁽a) Issuing or causing to be issued a Cover Note or policy of insurance for delivery in Florida; or

⁽b) Delivering or causing to be delivered a cover note or policy of insurance in Florida.

⁽Alfa App.7 at ¶7.) These allegations are sufficient only to allege jurisdiction under subsection (1) of the UIPL, not subsection (4).

§ 626.906 is meant to protect only Florida residents. Thus, subsection (4), just like subsections (1) - (3), is available only to Florida residents.

First and foremost, the Florida Legislature has expressly stated that § 626.906 (as a whole) was meant to protect Florida residents. As both Borden and Ocean's briefs recognize, when construing a statute, the interpreting court must "give effect to the Legislature's intent" and the "polestar that guides a court's statutory construction analysis" is legislative intent. Borden Br. at 11, citing *State v. Burris*, 875 So. 2d 408 (Fla. 2004); Ocean Br. at 14, citing *State v. J.M.*, 824 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 2002)). Thus, any ambiguity on the face of the statute is clarified by the Legislature's statement of its intent. *See also Reynolds v. State*, 842 So. 2d 46, 49 (Fla. 2002) ("It is well settled that legislative intent is the polestar that guides a court's statutory construction analysis.").

Here the Legislature has expressly stated its purpose – to protect Florida residents. According to Section 626.905:

The purpose of the UIPL is to subject certain insurers and persons representing or aiding such insurers to the jurisdiction of courts of this state in suits by or on behalf of insureds or beneficiaries under such insurance contracts. The Legislature declares that it is a subject of concern that many *residents of this state* hold policies of insurance issued or delivered them in the state by insurers while not authorized to do business in this state, thus presenting to *such residents* the often insuperable obstacle of resorting to distant forums for the purpose of asserting legal rights under such policies. In furtherance of such state interest, the Legislature herein provides a method of substituted services of process upon unauthorized insurers and persons representing or aiding such insurers, and declares that in so doing it exercises its power to protect *its residents* and to define, for the purpose of

this chapter, what constitutes doing business in this state, and also exercises powers and privileges available to the state by virtue of Pub. L. No. 15, 79th Congress of the United States, chapter 20, 1st session, s. 340, as amended, which declares that the business of insurance and every person engaged therein shall be subject to the laws of the states.

Fla. Stat. § 626.905 (2000) (emphasis added). The former Fifth Circuit cited to this same statement of purpose when it held that Section 626.906 applied only to insurance policies issued and delivered in Florida to Florida residents. *Parmalee v. Iowa State Traveling Men's Association*, 206 F.2d 518, 522 (5th Cir. 1953). By requiring that the policy be issued and delivered in Florida to a Florida resident, the UIPL ensures that the foreign insurer must know that it is making contacts with Florida which could subject it to the jurisdiction of Florida's courts.

As discussed in more detail below, limiting the statute to Florida residents is also consistent with constitutional due process requirements. First and foremost, the activities which may subject a defendant to jurisdiction of a foreign court must be purposefully directed toward forum *residents*. *Burger King*, 471 U.S. at 473. The requirement that the activities be directed at forum residents flows from the fact that a "State generally has a 'manifest interest' in providing *its residents* with a convenient forum for redressing injuries inflicted by out-of-state actors." *Id*.

Simply put, Florida laws are created to protect Florida residents. Florida courts exist to adjudicate matters affecting Florida and her residents. It would fly in the face of state sovereignty and judicial economy to rule otherwise. This case

is a perfect example: why should Florida courts adjudicate a case where a Russian corporation with no contacts with Florida delivers an insurance contract in Turkey to be sent through a chain of brokers, two of which happen to be located in Florida, to an insured in Honduras, which insures vessels that were supposed to be located in and restricted to Honduran waters but sank in international waters?

Borden and Ocean's weak response is to focus on the Legislature's use of the word "a" instead of "the" in its statement of purpose. Both parties conclude that, because the Legislature said that "it is a subject of concern that [Florida residents might not be able to sue foreign insurers]" rather than "the subject of [Florida residents might not be able to sue foreign insurers]," then the Legislature clearly intended for subsection (4) to be available to non-residents. (Borden Br. at 14, Ocean Br. at 14-15.)

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